1967

Vern H. Petersen And Georgia Petersen, Husband
And Wife; Reed L. Petersen And Ethel L. Petersen
v. Jule Combe, Jr., And Jule Combe, Sr. : Brief of
Appellants

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

Plaintiffs brought an action requesting the District Court to declare a road upon and going through defendants' properties to be a public road, with defendants requesting in their Counterclaim that the Court declare the same to be a private road in Weber County, Utah.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The lower Court found for plaintiffs and declared said road to be a public road.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants seek reversal of the Judgment of the lower Court, and for a Judgment in the said defendants' favor, determining that said road is a private road.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The road and land in question lies in Weber County,

east of Harrison Boulevard and in the vicinity of a street known as 4600 South Street. Said land being originally homesteaded by Michael Combe, then subsequently deeded away by Michael Combe to his family, and eventually ending in the ownership of Jule Combe, Sr. and Jule Combe, Jr. The road in question goes through the property of Jule Combe, Sr. on the west, through the Martinet property in the center, and through the property of Jule Combe, Jr. on the east.

In the opening address to the Court by plaintiffs' counsel, it was admitted that the road was never formally dedicated (TR 3, lines 20, 21) (TR 4, lines 7, 8), and in fact the road has never been described by metes and bounds but merely referred to as "the existing road", and the only plat showing the accurate location of said road is an aerial map introduced by plaintiffs, as Plaintiffs' Exhibit "A". In Plaintiffs' Exhibit "B", there is shown a plat with the road drawn in by dotted lines and referred to as "existing road". The unchallenged testimony was to the effect that when Michael Combe originally attained title to the property in question he constructed a road to his home, located on the easterly most part of the tract, and started from an area referred to in the proceedings as the Blue Onion, which said area is approximately one mile north of 4600 Street (TR 131, lines 4-26). This private road did not connect with Harrison Boulevard at the time and was just a wagon trail (TR 132, lines 17-22). The only use for this road was to get to Michael Combe's home (TR 132, lines 28-30) (TR 133, lines 1-7). Occasionally the property owner above Michael Combe used this first road (TR 133, lines 29, 30) (TR 132,

lines 1-7). This testimony of Jule Combe, Sr. was verified by Jule Combe, Jr. (TR 158, lines 1-21). In approximately 1945 a road was graded up to the Combes' private road where the Combe road was fenced (TR 132, lines 10-26) (TR 145, lines 29, 30) (TR 159 lines 17-30). There was a gate placed on the road at this time, which was subsequently opened and "no-trespass" signs placed at this location and maintained thereafter (TR 134, lines 1-30) (TR 146, lines 2-7). This was verified by the testimony of Jule Combe, Jr., who stated that at the time the fence gate came down they erected "no-trespassing", "dead-end", and "private property" signs, which were thereafter maintained (TR 159, lines 17-30) (TR 160, lines 1-12) TR 182, lines 18-30). There has been no evidence offered by plaintiffs to the contrary and no challenge by plaintiffs with respect to these facts. Defendants Jule Combe, Sr. and Jule Combe, Jr. have testified that since the road was graded up from Harrison Boulevard to their own private road they have kept the same posted on the west end, and on the property owned by Jule Combe, Jr. on the east end - the signs reading "no-trespassing", "private road" "dead-end" (TR 136, lines 8-26) (TR 152, lines 29, 30) (TR 153, lines 1-4) (TR 160, lines 1-12) (TR 182, lines 18-30). It was the testimony of the Combes that the only persons using this road, either before 1945 or after 1945, were the property owners to whom they had deeded property, and occasionally a few spectators (TR 135, lines 18-25) (TR 162, lines 3-20). Further testimony was, that from the time the street from Harrison Boulevard joined their own road they continually, to the date of this action, attempted and did keep the people from using the road, except for the property owners living

along it (TR 137, lines 25-30) (TR 138, lines 1-6) (TR 145, lines 9-16) (TR 151, lines 18-25) (TR 163, lines 6-23). The witnesses of both plaintiffs and defendants testified that the land at the end of the dead-end road and surrounding terrain had absolutely no place of public interest. The area was rocky, dry, with some oakbrush, there was no public park nor other reason for the public at large to use the road to get to any place whatsoever (TR 136, lines 1-7) (TR 153, lines 5-10) (TR 166, lines 1-14. Plaintiffs' witness, Anna Martinet, verified this in her testimony (TR 29, lines 21-30) (TR 30, lines 1-9). Same witness admitted, on direct examination by plaintiffs' counsel, that she had seen signs posted along the road (TR 26, lines 17-21). Plaintiffs' witness, Bertha Martinet, also stated that she recalls that the road in question was, for many years, posted on the west line of the property of Jule Combe Sr., although she would not identify how many years (TR 44, lines 3-30) (TR 45, lines 1-15). Also (TR 46, lines 9-18). Plaintiffs' witness, Charles Hansaker, admitted he had seen "no-trespassing" signs along the road, possibly since 1960. Although he was indefinite about how long he had seen said signs, he stated it was long before 1964 and before plaintiffs purchased their housing area above the Combes to the east (TR 50, lines 11-24) (TR 51, lines 9-26). He also confirmed that the road dead-ended at the home above Combes and that the road was paved from Harrison Boulevard only up to the Combe property (TR 54, lines 5-16). He also admitted there was nothing of public interest nor any reason for the public as a whole to use this road as "it was good-for-nothing mountain land". (TR 55, lines 8-21). Another of plaintiffs' witnesses, Mr. A. E.

Benning, on direct examination testified that he knew of the "no-trespassing" signs posted on the road in question in 1954, and acknowledged these "no-trespassing" signs by requesting permission of the Combes to use the road. Mr. Benning's testimony goes back to 1954 when he was looking for property to build a home on, which would necessitate his using the Combe's road (TR 62, lines 14-23) (TR 63, lines 28-30) (TR 64, lines 1-10) (TR 70, lines 3, 4). He states that he saw the "no-trespassing" signs, both on the property of Jule Combe, Sr. on the west and the property of Jule Combe, Jr. on the east (TR 64, lines 5-25). He did in fact ask the Combes for permission to use this road (TR 64, lines 26-28) (TR 65, lines 2-6) and he determined that the road was Michael Combe's private road (TR 66, lines 24-30) (TR 67, lines 1-21), the same going through Michael Combe's chicken coop. He stated that he did not know of anyone using the road except the land owners from 1954 to 1960 (TR 65, lines 25-28) (TR 67, lines 22-29) (TR 68, lines 1-22). Mr. Benning further indicated that there was nothing of any public interest whatsoever along this road (TR 70, lines 23-30) (TR 71, lines 1-18). Plaintiffs' witness, Elmer L. Burton, on direct examination, stated he knew of the "no-trespassing" signs on the road in question (TR 80, lines 6-14) (TR 81, lines 7-9), and he stated that they had been there two or three years ago, at least. He further stated that the signs were old and rusty, which would indicate they had been there for many, many years (TR 82, lines 5-24). He further confirmed the fact there was no public park or place of public interest whatsoever for the public to use said road (TR 85, lines 6-11. As a matter of fact there is nothing in the

transcript whatsoever to indicate that the public large was ever using the road. Plaintiffs' Reed Petersen and Vern Petersen, testified they had seen the "no trespass" signs and had been stopped by defendant James Combe, Jr. (TR 92, lines 5-29) (TR 95, lines 15-23). They had known of their workmen, or agents, being stopped since 1964 (TR 93, lines 18-23). Reed Petersen further testified that he knew the road was never dedicated to the public and knew that the County refused to fix this road (TR 98, lines 22-24) (TR 98, lines 10-14) (TR 102, lines 15-17) (TR 106, lines 9-26) (TR 108, lines 8-18). The most favorable interpretation of plaintiffs' testimony is that the witnesses themselves have used the road to visit friends living along the road, or that homeowners along the road had used it to get to their own private property. Various governmental bodies had used the road to get to their installations above the Combe property—all with express permission of the Combes (TR 138, lines 22-28) (TR 139, lines 1-18) (TR 163, lines 29, 30) (TR 164, lines 1-24) (TR 179, lines 2-22) (TR 180, lines 10-15) (TR 181, lines 5-25)—except the City of Ogden which indicated that they desired a right-of-way along the road but, when they would not agree to the terms of the Combes, stated that they would take their chances by using it and trespassing over the same (TR 187, lines 4-17). The County had at various times refused to work on the road, refused to fix the same and declined to accept it as a public road in return for reduction of taxes (TR 140, lines 1-15-24-28). They used the same, graded it occasionally and plowed it out in the winter in return for gravel from defendant's property, which was received free (TR 138, lines 22-28) (TR 139, lines 1-18) (TR 143, lines 8-20) (TR 153

(TR 14-26) (TR 161, lines 1-15) (TR 175, lines 2-5). The Combes never intended or considered it to be a public road, but rather a private road (TR 165, lines 19-26) (TR 177, lines 1-30). Plaintiffs' witness, Anna Martinet, seemed to indicate on her direct examination that she also felt only the landowners were entitled to use the road in question, rather than the public at large (TR 24, lines 1-4) (TR 25, lines 2-5-12-18) (TR 27, lines 21-23), and that she knew of none but property owners who used the road (TR 28, lines 16-30) (TR 29, lines 1-11). Plaintiffs' witness, Bertha Martinet, also indicated her feeling that the road was only for use of the landowners, rather than the public (TR 43, lines 11-13-17-19).

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

The Court erred in finding that part of the road known as 4600 South Street, which is upon and through the land of both defendants, has been used by the public for more than ten years and constitutes a public road.

The law is well established in Utah, under our Supreme Court decisions, that the requirements necessary to take private property for a public road are: (1) An intent of the owner of the property in question, clearly shown to dedicate such property as a road to the public, and (2) User by the public for a period of ten years. It is also clearly established that the burden of proof is upon the shoulders of the party alleging such dedication to prove it by clear and unequivocal proof.

In one of our latest cases, *Bonner v Sudbury*, 18 Utah 2d 140, 417 P2d 646, decided in 1966, the Court stated as follows:

"In connection with this review we deem it appropriate to note our agreement that the dedication of one's property to a public use should not be regarded lightly . . . The presumption in the property owner and the burden of establishing public use for the required period of time is on those claiming it. The mere fact that members of the public may use a private driveway or alley without interference will not necessarily establish it as a public way nor will the fact that it was shown on the public records to be a public street nor even that it had been paved and sign-posted as a public street by the city."

The dissent of Justice Callister indicates the Court's complete understanding of the importance of the right of individuals who own property, when he stated as follows:

"The majority opinion in this case condones violation of the constitutional inhibition against taking private property for public use without just compensation for the owner."

Use under private right is not sufficient. In a California case, *Tate v City of Sacramento*, 50 Cal. 242 (no Pacific citation) the Court held, as do all of the Courts in our sister states, that the burden of proof is upon those who allege land to be a public highway with title in the individual owner, and all of the rulings seem to indicate that the burden must be established by clear, convincing and unequivocal evidence. See *Village of Clayton v Colorado and S. Ry. Company*, 232 P 521 a New Mexico case. See also, *Town of Hooker v Morris*.

48 P 869, an Oklahoma case. *Christy v City of Bandon*, 162 P 248. *Track v Moore*, 149 P2d 854, a California case; *City of Inglewood v City and County of Denver*, 229 P2d 667, a Colorado case.

In the case before this Court we contend that plaintiff has failed to prove any intention to dedicate on the part of the defendants, and has failed to prove public usage for a period of ten years. Plaintiffs have failed to sustain the burden of proof requisite to justify a Judgment which was granted in the lower Court.

The intent to dedicate is a necessary element for plaintiff to succeed in his case. The *Bonner vs Sudbury* case, heretofore cited, recognizes this principal of law. A case decided by this Court, shortly prior to the *Bonner* case, also stated this rule, that the intent of the owners to dedicate must be shown to constitute a dedication to the public, *Gilmore v Carter*, 15 U 2d 280, 391 P2d 426.

In another Utah case, this Court held as follows: "Before a dedication of a street to the public use can be affected there must either be an intention to so dedicate such lands on the part of the owner thereof or he must act in such a manner as to be estopped from denying such intention. . . . But in all cases such *intention must be clearly manifest.*" (Italics ours.)

Hall vs North Ogden City, 109 Utah 325, 175 P2d 703.

In accord, *Sowadzki vs Salt Lake County*, 36 Utah 127, 104 P 111.

In another Utah case, which sets the rule forth clearly and succinctly, the Court held as follows:

“The intention of the owner of the land to dedicate may be inferred from his acquiescence in its continual use as a road by the public. In order to constitute acquiescence, in a legal sense, *the owner must know that the public is using his land as a road. There must be an act of the mind, a knowledge that the public is using the land as a highway and a purpose on the part of the landowner not to object.*” (Italics ours.)

“The vital principal of dedication is the intention to dedicate.”

Shettler vs Lynch, 23 Utah 305, 64 P 955.

In referring back to the testimony of plaintiffs' witnesses, it is apparent that none of said witnesses ever proved any act on the part of defendants, or any action implying such an intent, to dedicate this road to the public use. As a matter of fact, all of plaintiffs' witnesses admitted seeing no-trespass, dead-end and private property signs posted on defendants' property on the west side of their road, the side nearest Harrison Boulevard. Plaintiffs' witness, A. E. Benning, indicated that he had seen the signs, had known the Combes considered this to be a private road, and had personally contacted Michael Combe for permission to use the road to get to his home. It was admitted that the road had never been formally dedicated at the time plaintiffs began attempting to use the same, knowing full well of the no-trespass signs.

The road was never described on the official plats

by metes and bounds from the point that it started onto the Combe property to the dead-end area. The only maps or plats showing this road was an aerial map, and a plat with a road drawn in dotted lines and not described. It was further determined, by the testimony of the witnesses, Jule Combe, Jr. and Jule Combe, Sr., that the road had only been used by the land owners living along the same when the Combes deeded lots to these particular owners. The testimony was further, that, the only reason the street known as 4600 Street was ever joined to their own private road was because Weber County, in 1945 or thereabouts, wanted gravel from the Combe property, which the Combes agreed to give them if they would take care of their own private road by grading the same and keeping it in repair. There was no testimony to contradict this testimony. Plaintiffs' witnesses, Anna Martinet and Bertha Martinet, both stated they had seen cars along the road, but both admitted there had been signs posted along the road concerning the fact this was a private road and a dead-end road. Plaintiffs' witness, Charles Hansaker, admitted he had seen no-trespassing signs along the road, as did plaintiffs' witnesses, Elmer L. Burton, A. E. Benning, and others. All of plaintiffs' and defendants' witnesses stated that the road was a dead-end road and was in an area where there was no place of public interest; no park, no fishing streams, no hunting areas, merely sage brush and rocks, and good-for-nothing land. There would be no reason for the public to ever want to use this land or to establish a right-of-way along plaintiffs' road. It is our impression, that the only testimony in the case, concerning the public use, was that various people had seen cars using the same. There

was no designation as to whether they were land owner or the public at large. There was certainly no testimony on the part of the Combes that they ever intended to dedicate this land to public use. Our Courts have uniformly held, that a private right-of-way cannot be converted into a public right-of-way. The public at large must have obtained this right-of-way by its usage of the land for a period of ten years. The plaintiffs themselves testified that they had seen no-trespassing signs and had been stopped by defendants from using the road. This was at the time they began to look the property over, which they subsequently bought and upon which they built homes. Reed Petersen testified he knew the road was never dedicated to the public and that the County refused to fix this road. Plaintiffs made no attempt to contact the Combes to get permission to use the road, and merely went ahead to try to force their way through. They did say there was a question in their mind as to whether this was a public road and they attempted to get Weber County to declare the same to be such. The uncontroverted testimony of defendants clearly shows their intention not to dedicate.

This Court, in the case of *Wilson v Hull*, 7 Utah 90, 24 P 799, in speaking on the question of acquiescence, held as follows:

“The owner must know that the public is using his road as a road. There must be an act of the mind—a knowledge that the public is using the land as a highway, and a purpose on the part of the landowner not to object. . . . The vital principal of dedication is the intention to dedicate.”

The law, as established in Utah, seems to follow very closely the law as set forth in American Juris Prudence, which is as follows:

“The intention of the owner to set apart lands or property for the use of the public is the foundation and life of every dedication. This intent is essential, whether express or implied dedication is relied upon, and must be clearly and unequivocally manifested.”

23 Am Jur 2d 17 - Dedication, Section 19.

“The intention to make an offer of dedication is not a subjective intention concealed within the mind of the landowner but must be manifested by his acts, and must be expressed in his conduct. Such acts and declaration, moreover, should be of a public nature, hence, it is necessary for the owner to do some act from which can be drawn a positive intent to dedicate the property to the public.”

23 Am Jur. 2d 19 - Dedication, Section 21.

“ . . . The circumstances surrounding the public user must be plainly inconsistent with the owner’s right to claim the exclusive use of the land. They must show something more than permissive use. For instance, the mere use of a wharf by individuals for their own convenience with permission of the owner and without any intent by him to allow the public to use the wharf as a manner of right is not sufficient to amount to a dedication.”

23 Am Jur 2d 28 - Dedication, Section 29.

This same rule of law seems to be accepted in a number of our sister states. See *Inyo County v Given*, 191 P 688; *People ex rel. Howland v Dreher*, 35 P 867; *Kosland v Cherry*, 110 P 143; *City of Mantattan Beach v Cortelyou*, 76 P2d 483; *City of Los Angeles v White*, 156 P2d 54. Oregon also follows this rule, see *City of Clatskanie v McDonald*, 167 P 560. As does the State of Washington, see *Provident Trust Company v City of Spokane*, 114 P 1030. Also Oklahoma, see *Town of Hooker v. Morris*, 218 P. 869. And New Mexico, see *Village of Clayton v Colorado and S. Ry. Co.*, 232 P. 523.

Defendants and appellants therefore respectfully represent that plaintiffs have failed to prove the necessary facts under the law of the State of Utah to support a Judgment on their behalf, and the facts clearly show that defendants have always held out to the public that it was their own private road and not to be used by the public.

We respectfully submit, also, that there has been no proof on the part of the plaintiffs that the road belonging to the defendants and appellants has been used by the public for ten years, or for any period of time.

CONCLUSION

Defendants and appellants conclude, therefore, that under the statutes and the laws of the State of Utah as determined by the Courts' decisions, Judgment should be granted to defendants and appellants and the decision of the lower Court should be reversed in this respect, and that defendants and appellants should be awarded their costs.