1967

Vern H. Petersen And Georgia Petersen, Husband
And Wife; Reed L. Petersen And Ethel L. Petersen
v. Jule Combe, Jr., And Jule Combe, Sr. : Brief of
Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

Utah Statute 27-12-89, enacted in 1963, which is identical to the former Statute of 27-1-2, which was originally enacted in 1898, provides as follows:

PUBLIC CONSTITUTING DEDICATION. A highway shall be deemed to have been dedicated and abandoned to the use of the public when it has been continuously used as a public thoroughfare for a period of ten year.

Of the 16 witnesses, the only witness that claimed that there had not been unrestricted use of the road for 10 years or more was Jule Combe, Jr.

Anna Martinet, and Bertha Martinet, who have used 4600 South Street as access to their residence, testified that it had been used by them for at least 50 years. Mr. Hansaker, who rented the home on the Plaintiffs' property, and used 4600 South Street as the only access to his home, testified that he had used the road without restriction for a total of 22 years since 1941. If the Defendants were allowed to close the road, or restrict the use, then any of the other 40 to 50 land-owners who have their homes on 4600 South Street, or use

this road, would also have the same right, which could deny access to all owners. Approximately two-thirds of the road has been paved by Weber County, and the other part was constructed by Weber County, and totally maintained by the County since its existence. The Defendants themselves consider this the County's obligation. Further, Jule Combe, Sr. stated that he offered the road to the County in 1945, if they would maintain same.

The evidence is conclusive by all witnesses that the County has maintained the road since this offer was made. It is undisputed that the James Farrell home, Plaintiffs' prior owner, used 4600 South Street as access thereto since 1945, even as admitted by Defendant Jule Combe, Sr. The usage of the road, in providing access to residential property, has not been changed to all by the Plaintiffs. It seems ironic, that Defendant Jule Combe, Jr., who has only used the road since 1961, now claims that he has the right to restrict the use thereof, when less than 7% of the entire road is located on his land, and there have been other rights of usage thereto, by the other owners for more than 50 years.

If the other property owners demanded the same rights that he claims, then he would not have access to his property.

It now appears that with the Forest Green Estates Subdivision, and Knollwood Estate Subdivision, there will be in access of 200 homes that will use this road as an access to their property. Further, the resolution passed by the Weber County Commission, states as follows:

"NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby resolved and ordered that the area of 4600 South Street, located in the unincorporated area of Weber County, Utah, as now platted

in the records of the Weber County Recorder, be and the same is hereby declared to be a county road, for the benefit and use of the public, and that said area of road shall continue to be maintained by Weber County.

Stated March 16, 1965.

*Board of County Commissioners of Weber County.
State of Utah, by Bud Favero, Chairman.*

A recent Utah decision is *Bonner v Sudbury*, cited in 417 P2d 646. This case concerned the public use of a dead-end alley in Salt Lake City. Our Court held that where this alley had been platted as a public street, paved and maintained through the use of public funds, and where witnesses testified that it had been used for more than 25 years by the public, that these facts would constitute a dedication under 27-12-89 UCA 53. The court further stated that the resolution of this issue cannot rest entirely upon what the owner says was his intent.

In *Clark v Erikson* cited in 341 Pd 424 our Supreme Court further held that where there was testimony that the road had been used considerably in excess of 10 years, as a short-cut to a fishing stream and by people going to church, and with further reference being made to the road in the deeds and abstracts, that this usage constituted a public dedication under this statute.

Another recent case is *Joseph Boyer v Clifford Clark* cited in 326 P2d 107, where a road in Summit County crossed approximately 1500 feet of the Defendant's property. The testimony in that case established that the road had been used for over 50 years for hauling coal, crossing the open range, driving cattle, sheep, etc. The landowner objecting to public use had acquired his property approximately 12 years

prior to the filing of the court action when he installed signs thereafter and attempted to restrict its use. The Supreme Court in reversing the trial court, held that there was sufficient evidence to establish public use under 27-12-89, even though this road had never been maintained at public expense. The court, in discussing the evidence and applicable law, stated as follows:

*"The uncontradicted evidence in the instant case disclosed that for a period exceeding 50 years, the public, even though not consisting of a great many persons, made a continuous and uninterrupted use of Middle Canyon Road in traveling by wagon and other vehicles and by horse from Upton to Grass Creek and other points as often as they found it convenient or necessary. They trailed cattle, and sheep, hauled coal, and used this trail for other purposes in traveling Grass Creek and various other points to and from Highway 133. This evidence was sufficient as a matter of law to establish a highway by dedication and the court erred in finding otherwise. The highway once having been established by such use, it is provided by statute, Sec. 27-1-3, U.C.A. 1953, that it" * * * must continue to be highway(s) until abandoned by order of the board of county commissioner * * * or other competent authority." There is no contention that any such procedure has been invoked here."*

Another Utah statute, 27-12-92, also enacted in 1963 which was an exact re-statement of 27-1-10, originally enacted in 1898, states as follows:

"PATENTEE AND COUNTY TO ASSERT CLAIMS TO ROADS CROSSING LAND — Whenever any person shall acquire title from the United States to any land in this state over which there shall at the time extend any public highway that shall not theretofore have been duly platted, and that shall not have been continuously

used as used for a period of ten years theretofore, he shall within three months after receipt of his patent assert his claim for damages in writing to the board of county commissioners of the county in which the land is situated; and said board shall have an additional period of three months in which to begin proceedings to condemn the land according to law. Such highway shall continue open as a public highway during said periods; but in case no action is begun by the board of county commissioners within the period above stated, such highway shall be deemed to be abandoned by the public. In case of a failure by such person so acquiring title to public lands to assert his claim for damage as aforesaid for three months from the time he shall have received a patent to such lands, he shall thereafter be barred from asserting or recovering any damages by reason of such public highway, and the same shall remain open."

It is apparent from the wording of this statute that if a patentee desire to contest the existence of any public highway upon his property when the patent is issued, even though the road shall not have been used for 10 years prior thereto, he shall have 3 months after receipt of his patent to assert a claim against the county commissioners for damages, and to further require the condemnation of said road. If this action is not asserted within said period, then he is forever barred from asserting or recovering any damages, by reason of such public highway and the same shall remain open.

It is clear from this statute and the evidence admitted at the trial that Michael Combe, Defendants' predecessor in interest, had to assert his claim within 3 months after receiving his patent or he would be forever barred from disputing the public use thereof.

The testimony of witnesses indicated tthat this road was

in existence and used by George Farrell, as the entrance to his home, as he homesteaded Section 15 and received the patent thereto, as did Michael Combe to Section 10.

Another applicable federal statute is 43 USCA 932, which states as follows:

"RIGHT-OF-WAY FOR HIGHWAYS. The right-of-way for the construction of highways, not reserved for the public uses, is hereby granted."

A case construing this statute is Van Wanning v Deter, cited in 112 NW 902.

"A settler on public lands on which there is a road in common use as a public highway takes subject to the public easement of such, as a road though it was never established by the public authorities under the general road laws."

Another Utah case is Morris v Blunt cited in 161 P 1127, where the Court held as follows:

"Under this section, the highway, even though it be over privately owned ground, will be deemed dedicated or abandoned to the public use when the public has continuously used it as a thoroughfare for a period of ten years, but such use must be by the public."

Another recent Utah case is Gillmor v Carter cited in 391 P2d 426, where the Court held as follows:

"In order for a private road to become a public thoroughfare there must be evidence of intent by the owner to vacate the road to a public use and an acceptance by the public. Such intent may be inferred from the decorations, acts or circumstances and uses by the general public."

Regarding the resolution passed by the Weber County

Commission in March of 1965, this authority would seem to be inferred from Utah Statute 17-5-42, which states as follows:

"REGULATIONS OF USE OF ROADS. They may enact ordinances and make regulations not in conflict of law for the control, construction, alteration, repair and use of all roads and highways in the county outside of incorporated cities."

It further appears from the statement issued by the Weber County Surveyor's office that there has been continual use of 4600 South Street for more than ten years, and further shows their opinion regarding public dedication.

CONCLUSION

Most of the cases cited by appellants in their brief in the lower Court, were decisions that were rendered before the advent of the automobile. The photographs, that were admitted in evidence, also show the extensive usage of this road. Further, the testimony of the tenant of the Farrell home, showing his occupancy since 1940 and the use of the road to get to his home, which is undisputed, shows a minimum of 27 years of unrestricted use. Where it is the intention of the Plaintiffs to just use the road for access to residential property, as it has been so used in excess of 27 years, then there is no change of usage thereof. It is respectfully submitted that the lower Court judgment should be affirmed.